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In my end is my beginning

Words Mary Queen of Scots had embroidered in French
on her clothing shortly before her execution


This is my truth, tell me yours
Manic Street Preachers






[image: title]





Now



John Rebus had been in court plenty of times, but this was his first time in the dock. As the charge was being read out for the jury’s benefit, he took it all in. Things hadn’t yet recovered from COVID. Apart from the judge and Rebus, everyone was masked, and there were cameras and monitors everywhere. The jury were being housed elsewhere – a cinema on Lothian Road – as a health precaution. He could see them courtesy of one of the large monitors, just as they could see him.


He tried to remember his first time giving evidence in a case, but couldn’t. It would have been the 1970s, not quite half a century ago. The lawyers, court officials and judge had probably looked much the same. Today Rebus was flanked by two uniformed guards, as would have been the case back then. He’d been in the witness box once when the accused had tried barging his way out of the dock to have a go at him, one of the guards hauling him back. What was the accused’s name? Short and skinny, with curly hair. Began with an M, maybe. Ach, everybody’s memory started going eventually, didn’t it? It wasn’t just him. An age thing, like the COPD that meant he was allowed to keep an inhaler in his pocket along with his face mask.


He wondered how his dog was doing. His daughter, Samantha, had taken Brillo to hers. Rebus’s granddaughter doted on the mutt. He was glad the public gallery was empty – meant he hadn’t had to fight with Sam to stop her attending. There was a simplicity to life in custody. Other people took the decisions for you. He didn’t have to think about meals or dog walks or what to do with his day. Being an ex-cop, he even found himself popular with the prison guards. They liked to linger in his cell, sharing stories. They kept an eye open, too – not everyone inside would have his best interests at heart, which was why he had the luxury of unshared accommodation, even as HMP Edinburgh was bursting at the seams. Not that anyone outside of a few pen-pushers referred to it as HMP Edinburgh – it was Saughton, sited at the westernmost end of Gorgie Road. If you headed into town from there, you soon passed the Hearts football stadium and then Tynecastle police station. In a roundabout way, it was the latter that had brought Rebus here.


Malone, that was the skinny guy’s name. A career housebreaker who didn’t at all mind terrorising any occupants he found on the premises. One of his victims had suffered a coronary and died on the spot, which was why Rebus had made sure Malone wouldn’t get away with it. That had entailed a bit of embroidery from the witness box, which was what had caused Malone to fly into a rage – and that never looked good to a jury. Rebus had tried to look shaken by the outburst. The judge had asked if he needed a minute.


‘Maybe a glass of water, Your Honour,’ Rebus had said, trying to summon up a few beads of nervous sweat. All of this while Malone was being taken from the courtroom, cursing Rebus and his corrupt kind to the rafters.


‘The jury will ignore what they’ve just heard from the accused,’ the judge intoned. Then, to the advocate depute, ‘You may continue, if Detective Inspector Rebus is ready.’


Detective Inspector Rebus was ready.


He tried to recall the first time he’d set foot in Tynecastle cop shop. Would he have been a DI or a detective sergeant? Probably a DS. He had never been based there himself, though for a time he’d worked out of nearby Torphichen. But Torphichen was practically Edinburgh’s salubrious West End. Tynecastle – Tynie to those acquainted with it – was a tougher proposition altogether. Rebus reckoned there was a thesis to be written about the proximity of football grounds to areas of high deprivation. The land around Tynecastle stadium comprised tenements mostly, separated by wasteland and industrial units. Further west the tenements gave way to estates such as Burnhill, with its ugly concrete blocks from the 1960s and ’70s, whose condensation-heavy windows resembled cataracts in a crumbling face. For at least some of the people who lived their lives there, allegiance to the local football team provided distraction and even occasionally an all-too-brief euphoria.


Not that Rebus had ever followed any one team.


‘Come on, John,’ he’d often been teased, ‘Hearts or Hibs, it must be one or the other.’ To which he would always shake his head, just as he found himself shaking his head now as he happened to catch a few of the clerk’s words. Seemed to be taking for ever to get through the charge sheet.


‘You are indicted at the instance of … and the charge against you is that you did … on the fifteenth of … at … against … and did …’


Rebus was trying not to let the jury know he was absolutely aware of them. He knew which camera was trained on him and his eyes never met it. The polished wood of the courtroom; the slate-coloured carpet; the little ledge on which he could rest his hands – these were his apparent focus. Then there was the witness box. A screen stood near it – not a TV monitor, but an actual physical screen so that a witness could testify without eye contact being possible with the defendant. The whole thing was on wheels so it could be rolled into position as and when needed, rolled up the temporary ramp …


Hang on, why had it gone quiet?


Rebus looked to the judge, who was staring at his QC. The clerk of court was staring too, from above the charge sheet.


‘Apologies, Your Honour,’ the QC said, rifling through his papers.


The clerk gave a theatrical sigh. The whole thing was bloody theatre, something Rebus had come to realise all those decades back. Well, theatre to the various professions involved anyway. Anything but theatre to everyone else.


‘This is the point in proceedings where you inform of us how the accused intends to plead,’ the judge admonished the QC.


Rebus glanced towards his defence team – senior counsel and junior counsel in their daft wee wigs, solicitor in a dark buttoned-up suit. Senior counsel wore a gown of silk and a piece of neckwear Rebus now knew was called a fall, though no one seemed to know why. They looked to him like the relative strangers they were, though he’d met them often these past few weeks and days. Junior counsel’s face was impassive, probably thinking about the shopping she had to do on the way home or the games kit to get ready for her kid’s next day at school.


‘Mr Bartleby?’ the judge prompted. Rebus liked the look of the judge. He seemed the type who’d pour you the good whisky, no matter who you were. The senior counsel was giving a nod, satisfied with whatever he’d been checking.


He licked his lips.


Opened his mouth to speak.


Rebus couldn’t help but mimic him, drawing in a lungful of sweet Edinburgh air …





Then






Day One
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The pubs were opening again, and this time without the need to sign in and order from your table. Standing at a bar seemed a ­novelty, though you were aware of the bottle of hand sanitiser on the corner or over by the door, and the track-and-trace QR code or the old-fashioned clipboard on which you scrawled a name – any name, and contact number – any number. Rebus still hadn’t a clue how the QR code worked. Now and again a savvier customer or one of the bar staff would try showing him, but the information was like a stone skimming across the surface of his brain, soon sinking, never to be retrieved.


The pub he was in today was on Brougham Place. He had walked Brillo across Bruntsfield Links in low winter sun, dog and owner casting long shadows. There was the usual traffic on Melville Drive and plenty of students using the footpaths. He supposed the university was back in business. Things had been very quiet for a while, Rebus confined to barracks with his COPD until the vaccine programme kicked in. But now he was a free man, and boosted to boot. No more distanced meetings with his daughter and granddaughter, them one side of the garden gate and him the other, shopping left outside the door for him to collect. People could go about their lives again. He could give Samantha and Carrie a hug, though he sensed a reticence still in his granddaughter, who was yet to be jabbed. Were things really getting back to normal, or was there no longer any normal for them to get back to? The drinkers in today’s pub still slipped their masks back on if they wanted to move about the place. They still twitched if anyone had a sudden coughing fit. Lockdown had offered Rebus the perfect excuse not to try seeing his doctor about the dizzy spells and chest pain. Maybe he’d do something about that now.


Aye, maybe.


For the present, he contented himself with the evening paper. There was a story about local businesses on the Royal Mile that felt under siege, shoplifters and addicts menacing them and taking from them with seeming impunity. Meanwhile in West Lothian a car had been vandalised with acid and a nearby house attacked with a petrol bomb. Rebus knew that probably meant a gang feud. Not that it was any of his business, not any more. When his phone pinged, a drinker at the next table visibly flinched. Rebus gave a slow shake of the head to reassure the man that it was just a normal text rather than a COVID alert. But when he checked his screen, he realised it was anything but normal, insofar as it was from a man called Cafferty. Morris Gerald Cafferty, known as Big Ger.


You not out with the dog?


Rebus thought about ignoring the question, but he doubted Cafferty would give up.


Yes, was his one-word reply. Cafferty’s response was immediate.


How come I can’t see you?


Pub.


Which one?


Why?


Are you on some sort of miser’s contract that means you can only type three-letter texts?


Apparently not.


Rebus waited, took a sip from his pint, and waited some more. Brillo was curled at his feet, not asleep but doing a passable impression. Rebus rested his phone on the table and swirled the contents of his glass, renewing its foamy head. He’d been told once that he shouldn’t do that, but he couldn’t remember why.


Ping. I need to see you.


Ping. Come to the flat.


Ping. No rush. The next hour will do. Finish your drink and take the dog home.


He debated how to answer. Did he even need to? No, because he was going to go, and Cafferty knew he would. He would go because he was curious – curious about all sorts of things. He would go because they had history.


On the other hand, he didn’t want to look too keen. So instead he slipped his mask on, walked to the bar and ordered another pint.


Cafferty’s home was a three-storey penthouse in a glass tower on a development known as Quartermile. It had been the site of Edinburgh’s old infirmary, and the original renovated buildings nestled between steel-and-glass newcomers. Rebus’s own home was a ground-floor tenement flat on a quiet street in Marchmont, only a ten-minute walk away. The two were separated by Melville Drive. On Rebus’s side sat Bruntsfield Links, where pitch-and-putt was played in summer months. On Cafferty’s side sat a large grassy area known as the Meadows. There were usually plenty of joggers, cyclists and dog-walkers making use of the space. Rebus had to avoid a few as he walked towards Quartermile. He wondered if Cafferty was watching his approach. On the off chance, he offered a two-fingered salute in the building’s general direction, earning him a quizzical look from a young couple seated on a nearby bench.


He paused for a moment outside the door to Cafferty’s building, wishing he still smoked. A cigarette would have given him a reason­able excuse to delay entering. Instead of which, he pressed the buzzer. The door clicked open, the lift taking him up eight storeys to the top. The landing here led to just the one door. It had already been opened. A well-built young man was scooping up the mail that had obviously been pushed through the letter box earlier. He was fair-haired and had a build toned by regular visits to the gym. He sported what looked like a Fitbit on his left wrist. No actual watch and no rings.


‘Who are you then?’ Rebus enquired.


‘Mr Cafferty’s personal assistant.’


‘Must be some job that, wiping his arse as and when. I know the way.’ Rebus snatched the mail from the man’s hand. He’d taken no more than two steps down the hall when a strong grip on his shoulder pulled him up.


‘Need to pat you down.’


‘You’re joking, aren’t you?’ But it was clear from the look on the young man’s face that he wasn’t. Rebus managed a sigh as he unzipped his padded jacket. ‘You know I was invited here, right? Making me a guest rather than a really shite ninja?’


The hands went around Rebus’s ribs, up under his arms and down his back. When the man crouched to check the legs of his trousers, Rebus had a mind to plant a knee in his face, but he reckoned there might be consequences.


‘I hope you enjoyed that as much as I did,’ he said as the man rose to his full height again. Instead of replying, the assistant grabbed the letters Rebus had taken from him, then led the way into the flat’s cavernous open-plan living area.


Rebus noted that the staircase had had a stairlift fitted, but otherwise the place was as he remembered it. Cafferty was in an electric wheelchair over by the floor-to-ceiling windows. There was a telescope there on a lowered tripod, just the right height for someone seated.


‘I suppose you have to get your kicks somehow,’ Rebus commented.


Cafferty half turned his head and offered a thin smile. He had lost some weight and there was an unhealthy pallor to his face. The eyes were still the same steely orbs, though, the large clenched fists a reminder of past, bruising endeavours.


‘No flowers or chocolates?’ he asked, looking Rebus up and down.


‘I’ve a dozen white lilies ordered for when the time comes.’ Rebus pretended to be interested in the view across The Meadows to the chimneypots of Marchmont. ‘They still haven’t found him, have they?’ he mused. ‘The guy who shot you? Thinking is, they never will.’


‘Andrew, get John here a drink, will you? Maybe some coffee to counteract the alcohol?’


‘What’s the point of alcohol if you counteract it?’


‘A whisky, then? I don’t have any beer.’


‘I don’t need anything, other than to know what I’m doing here.’


Cafferty stared at him. ‘It’s good to see you too.’ He turned the wheelchair and aimed it at the long glass coffee table across the room, at the same time gesturing to Andrew that he should leave.


‘Which is he, carer or bodyguard?’ Rebus asked as he followed.


Cafferty gestured towards the cream leather sofa and Rebus lowered himself onto it, moving a large cushion emblazoned with a saltire out of the way. The only thing on the table was the mail Andrew had placed there. Cafferty’s gaze settled on him.


‘How about you?’ he enquired. ‘Did you have a good pandemic?’


‘I appear to have survived.’


‘Sums up the pair of us, wouldn’t you say? On the other hand, you probably feel it as much as I do.’


‘Feel what?’


‘Mortality, chapping at the door.’ To reinforce the point, Cafferty rapped the knuckles of his left hand against the arm of his wheelchair.


‘Well, this is cheery.’ Rebus leaned back, getting as comfortable as the sofa would allow.


‘Life isn’t cheery, though, is it? We both learned that lesson long ago. And stuck here during COVID, there wasn’t a hell of a lot to do except …’ Cafferty tapped his forehead.


‘If you’d asked, I’d have let you borrow a jigsaw.’


Cafferty gave a slow shake of the head. ‘You forget that I know you. You’re telling me you sat for weeks on end in that flat of yours, that living room, that head of yours, and didn’t brood? What else would you do?’


‘I had a dog that needed walking.’


‘And you had your daughter and granddaughter take it for those walks – I saw them.’ He jerked his head towards the telescope. ‘And Siobhan Clarke too, sometimes. She could never get within a hundred yards of here without staring up. Staring, mind, not …’ He raised two fingers towards Rebus.


‘If you could maybe get to the point while there’s still a bit of light in the sky.’


‘The point is …’ Cafferty sucked in some air and expelled it noisily. ‘I’ve had nothing to do but think back on things I’ve done, people I’ve done them to. Not all of it strictly merited.’


Rebus held up a hand, palm towards Cafferty. ‘I no longer take confession. Siobhan’s the one you need to talk to.’


‘Not for this,’ Cafferty said quietly. ‘Not for this.’ He leaned forward in his chair. ‘You remember Jack Oram?’


It took Rebus a few moments, Cafferty staying silent, content to let the synapses do their slow-grinding work.


‘Another of your legion of the disappeared,’ Rebus eventually stated. ‘What was the name of his place – the Potter’s Bar?’


‘I knew you’d remember.’


‘A pool hall where a cue could come in handy in more than one way. Oram’s name above the door but profits accruing to the man I’m looking at right now. Oram starts skimming and pretty soon he needs more than a pool cue to save him.’


‘I didn’t touch him.’


‘Of course you didn’t.’


‘He ran before I could. Turned into a missing person case. I’ve half an idea your old pal Siobhan worked on it.’


‘So?’


‘So I hear he’s back in town.’


‘And?’


‘I wouldn’t mind a word, always supposing he can be persuaded.’


Rebus gave a grunt. ‘What are you going to do, have Andrew pat him down with a bit more malice?’


‘I want to say sorry to the guy,’ Cafferty stated solemnly.


Rebus made show of cupping a hand to one ear. ‘I must have misheard.’


‘I’m serious. Yes, he took what wasn’t his, and, yes, he ran. He’s been laying low the past four years, doubtless scared shitless. Probably only came back because he heard about this.’ Cafferty thumped the arm of his wheelchair again.


‘I’m still not sure I get it.’


‘That’s because you don’t know what he needed the money for. His brother, Paul, died of cancer. Left a wife, two kids and precious little in the bank. Jack wanted to help, whatever it took.’


‘Are you asking me to believe you’ve suddenly grown a conscience?’


‘I just want to tell him to his face that I’m sorry for what happened.’


‘So have your gofer go fetch him.’


‘I could do that, but seeing how you’re to blame for what happened to him …’


‘What do you mean?’


‘Four and a bit years back, you were drinking in some pub, got chatting to a guy called Eric Linn. Ring a bell?’


‘I’ve met a lot of people in a lot of pubs.’


‘The two of you had a mutual acquaintance, Albert Cousins, snitch of yours from back in the day. Linn asked if you still saw him. You said no, but you’d heard he was losing a bit too much at after-hours poker games in the Potter’s Bar.’ Cafferty broke off. ‘Anything?’


‘Maybe.’


‘Well, Eric knew I had a stake in the bar and he reckoned I might be interested, which I was, because nobody had thought to tell me about these wee sessions. Jack Oram had been holding back, not cutting me in. That got me doing some digging, and it started to look a lot like he’d been skimming from the pool hall, too. Lucky for him, he got wind I’d be wanting a word.’ Cafferty paused again. ‘All because your mouth got a bit slack in a bar one night.’


Rebus was silent for a moment. It was true about Albert Cousins and his gambling. Rebus couldn’t have known not to mention it in conversation. All the same …


‘The streets have changed,’ Cafferty was saying. ‘I’ve not got the eyes and ears I once had.’


‘Neither have I.’


‘But you still know your way around, and you’ve got time on your hands.’


‘I’m a bit long in the tooth to play Humphrey Bogart.’ Rebus got to his feet and retraced his steps to the window. He heard the whirr of the wheelchair’s motor as Cafferty followed him.


‘I’m on the way out,’ Cafferty said quietly. ‘You noticed as soon as you walked in here. Those bullets did too much damage.’ He suddenly looked tired. ‘I just feel bad about Oram. I can’t explain it exactly, why him and none of the others. And there’s money in it, of course.’ He was gesturing towards a wall unit. ‘Envelope there with some cash in it. You wouldn’t be Humphrey Bogart if you didn’t take it.’


‘Any chance of a femme fatale on the side?’


‘No promises, but who knows what you’ll turn up. It’s got to be better than festering in that flat of yours.’


‘I’m halfway through another jigsaw, though. Sergeant Pepper, a thousand pieces.’


‘It’ll still be there.’


Rebus turned and leaned in towards the seated figure. ‘Whatever happened to Oram, I’m not to blame – you are. You’d have found out eventually, one way or another. Plenty chancers out there who’d be happy to track him down for you.’


‘I don’t want just any chancer, though – I want the biggest.’


Rebus gave a thin smile, almost despite himself. ‘So what have you got, apart from his name?’


‘Could be he’s using an alias – I would, in his shoes. Last sighting was near Gracemount a few weeks back.’


‘A lovely spot for an ex-cop to go walkabout. Is this you trying to get me bushwhacked?’


‘He was coming out of a lettings agency on Lasswade Road.’


‘Didn’t you used to own a lettings agency?’


Cafferty nodded. ‘It changed hands a few years back.’


‘And that’s his last sighting – a lettings office that used to be in your name?’


Cafferty offered a slow shrug. ‘I know you’d rather it was a Hollywood mogul’s house, but that’s all I can offer.’


Rebus leaned down further, his hands gripping the arms of the wheelchair. The two men fixed eyes, the silence lengthening. Then he pushed himself upright and shook his head slowly.


‘I’ll think about it,’ he said, walking towards the door.


Cafferty stayed facing the window. In around five minutes, he could place his eye to the telescope and watch Rebus heading back across the Meadows. He heard the front door close and sensed Andrew behind him, awaiting instructions.


‘Tea, I think,’ he said. ‘Builder’s strength.’


‘I didn’t like him,’ Andrew commented.


‘You’re a good judge of character. But then you probably wouldn’t like me either if I wasn’t paying for the privilege. Though with what you’re learning, maybe I should be charging tuition fees.’


Cafferty manoeuvred his wheelchair towards the wall unit. Rebus had taken the envelope, of course he had. Satisfied, he moved to the coffee table, reaching forward to sift through the mail. There was an A4-sized envelope with familiar lettering in the top left corner: MGC Lettings. The cheapskate bastards were still using his personalised stationery.


‘Hell is this?’ he muttered, opening the flap. There was a single sheet of paper inside, a printout of a grainy photograph. The profile of a man, taken through the doorway of a living room. Cafferty checked. Nothing on the back of the photo and nothing else in the envelope.


Andrew was standing behind him. ‘Who’s that?’ he enquired.


‘Not the faintest fucking idea,’ Cafferty said. And he meant it. He didn’t recognise the man at all.


The living room, though … Well, that was another matter entirely.
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Detective Inspector Siobhan Clarke was in the CID office at Gayfield Square police station. She had been staring at her computer for almost five minutes, a mug of tea grown tepid beside her.


‘I can make you another,’ Detective Constable Christine Esson suggested. Clarke blinked herself back into the room and shook her head, then squeezed her eyes shut and arched her spine until she could feel the vertebrae click back into place.


‘I’m going to guess Francis Haggard,’ Esson went on, holding her own mug up to her face. Her dark hair was cut pageboy style and had never changed in the years they’d worked together. Her desk faced Clarke’s, making it difficult to hide, though Clarke suspected her colleague could read even the back of a head.


‘Who else?’ Clarke admitted.


Haggard was a uniformed officer based at Tynecastle police station who stood accused of domestic abuse, ‘abuse’ being the current terminology. Previously it had been called domestic violence, and before that, domestic assault. None of the three, to Clarke’s mind, came anywhere near defining the severity of the crime. She had encountered victims turned to husks; self-belief, trust and confidence scooped out. Some had suffered all their married lives – often physically, always psychologically. The abusers ranged across class and age, but this was the first time she’d had to deal with one of her own.


Haggard had fifteen years of service behind him. He’d been married for the past six, and according to his partner, the angry outbursts and gaslighting had started within the first eighteen months of marriage. Clarke and Esson had interviewed Haggard that very afternoon, not for the first time. He’d sat across the table from them, shoulders back, legs splayed, one hand occasionally cupping his groin. His solicitor, who’d had to slide his own chair further away to avoid their knees touching, had just about managed to hide his obvious disdain.


Haggard had complained about the presence in the room of not just one but two female detectives, turning towards the lawyer. ‘You sure you’re okay with this, Mikey? Couple of blokes might see things differently.’


The solicitor, Michael Leckie (Clarke doubted anyone else in his life ever referred to him as Mikey), had shifted in his chair, saying nothing.


‘I see how it is,’ Haggard had said, nodding to himself. ‘Pitchforks are out and the pyre’s nicely smouldering.’ Then, turning his head sharply towards Leckie, ‘Go on then, tell them what I told you to.’


At which Michael Leckie had cleared his throat and transferred his attention from the file of papers in front of him to the two detectives seated opposite.


‘I suppose,’ he said, spacing his words as if reciting a language he’d only recently learned, ‘you will have heard of a condition known as post-traumatic stress disorder?’


‘PTSD,’ Esson had replied.


‘PTS fucking D,’ Francis Haggard had echoed.


‘PTSD,’ Esson said now, shaking her head in disbelief. Somehow, without Clarke having noticed, the tepid tea had been switched for a fresh mug. She lifted it and took a slurp. Esson herself only ever seemed to drink hot water, at least while on duty. ‘It’ll never fly, will it?’


‘I don’t know,’ Clarke confessed. All Haggard had stated at the interview was that the job he’d been doing for the past fifteen years had left with him the condition.


‘My client is unwilling to go into details at this time,’ Leckie had commented, sounding as though he might not himself know too many of the particulars. Haggard had already been charged and was out on bail, with the stipulation that he not go within a couple of postcodes of his wife or their shared address. He’d been suspended from police duties, naturally, and interviewed several times as part of the investigation. Esson had been assigned to the case from the get-go, but Clarke had only come aboard when DC Ronnie Ogilvie, Esson’s usual CID partner, had caught COVID, leaving him isolating at home.


‘PTSD,’ Esson repeated.


‘I’ve been looking it up online,’ Clarke said. ‘It’s for battlefields and terror attacks. Surviving a tsunami or childhood trauma.’


‘He’s going to say a priest fiddled with him after choir practice, and thirty years later he’s battering his partner?’ Esson sounded sceptical. ‘Funny he’s only just decided that’s his mitigation. Pound to a penny some men’s group online will have suggested it. We should check if it’s been tried in the past. And we need to let a psychologist have a go at him.’


‘There’s a lot we need to do, Christine. Has he been stationed anywhere other than Tynecastle?’


‘A few relief shifts down the years. But otherwise, no.’


‘So this PTSD stems from working at Tynie.’


‘The dreaded Tynie. Suddenly it begins to look more plausible.’


Every cop in Edinburgh knew at least one story from Tynecastle. Officers there had a reputation for overstepping the mark and getting away with it. Countless prisoners had tripped on their way to or from its holding cells, or fallen down stairs, or somehow lost their balance and ended up planting their face into a wall. CCTV wouldn’t have been functioning at the time. Accusations of misconduct would be withdrawn or come to nothing. There were whispers, too, of larger misdeeds – manufactured evidence, cover-ups and bribes.


‘Her name’s Cheryl,’ Esson suddenly said.


‘What?’


‘Cheryl Haggard. The victim. We shouldn’t lose sight of her in all this.’


‘That’s a good point. If he’s been suffering from PTSD, wouldn’t she be the first to know? He’d have said something, wouldn’t he? Or she’d have sensed him changing.’


‘You’ve not spoken to her yet, have you?’


Clarke shook her head. ‘I know you and Ronnie did.’ She dug into the files on her desk, finding one of the transcripts. ‘How’s she doing?’


‘She’s got her sister looking after her.’


‘Well, that’s something. Who’s the liaison officer?’


‘Gina Hendry. She says she knows you.’


Clarke nodded. ‘We go back a bit. I’ll talk to her.’


‘Tomorrow maybe, eh, boss?’ Esson was holding up her phone, screen towards Clarke so she could see the time display.


‘Already?’ Clarke turned towards the window. Outside it had grown dark.


‘Been a long day, and I think it’s my turn to get them in.’


‘You make a compelling case, Detective Constable Esson.’ Clarke reached down to the floor for her shoulder bag.


Siobhan Clarke lived in a tenement flat just off Broughton Street, not much more than a five-minute walk from Gayfield Square. Esson had taken her to a bar on Leith Walk, where they’d shared some nachos to go with their drinks. Leith Walk itself was the usual mess, courtesy of the roadworks for the new tram line. Some sections of pavement were all but inaccessible, and the bar owner had hung a banner above the door to let potential customers know that Yes We ARE Open – And Ready To Serve You! Clarke wasn’t sure how far a single plate of nachos and two rounds of gin and tonics would boost his coffers. As they’d left, he’d said he hoped to see them again soon.


‘And bring a friend – bring lots of friends.’


With plenty of distance between them and the next occupied table, Clarke and Esson had found themselves discussing the case. They’d tried not to at first, but had soon run out of topics. Esson had swirled the ice in her glass as she started things off.


‘The arresting officers, I could tell from their notes that they were trying to go easy on him. One of their own and all that. And there’s Cheryl standing at the far end of the hall with blood pouring from her nose and tears streaming. It was the neighbours who called it in. Far from the first time they’d heard screams. They’d summoned us one time previously, but Haggard had talked his way out when the uniforms pitched up. I thought the days were past when we turned a blind eye to domestics.’


‘Doesn’t help when you’re confronted by someone who carries the same warrant card as you.’


‘Might have talked his way out again this time if he hadn’t started mouthing off, then given one of them a shove. Have you seen the flat?’ Clarke had shaken her head. ‘I went for a look-see. New development in Newhaven, close by the harbour, views across the water from the balcony. The neighbours work in finance. They told me the wall insulation’s really good, which is how they knew the screams were serious. You saw the photos of her injuries?’


‘New and old, Christine. I’ve memorised the descriptions. I’ve read the interviews you did with her.’


‘Sometimes being a spinster’s not so bad,’ Esson had sighed.


The two women had locked eyes and shared half-hearted smiles.


Walking home, Clarke considered the relationships she’d had. Plenty of them down the years, always spluttering to a halt like a car with a leak in its fuel line. She had come to the eventual realisation that she was fine on her own. She had her flat, music and books and TV. She had friends she could hang out with or whose dinner tables she could share. They had mostly stopped trying to pair her with eligible men (and women, come to think of it). Edinburgh wasn’t the worst place to be single. She didn’t look out of place at concerts or the cinema or theatre. Okay, she’d been bored for stretches of the COVID lockdown, but she’d also enjoyed the silent city and its emptied streets.


The flip side, of course, was that while some crimes had fallen off a cliff, others had increased, including incidents of domestic abuse. Relationships had become pressure cookers. With pubs and clubs closed, drinking took place at home. Tempers frayed; insults were hurled – followed by fists and whatever came to hand.


That was the card she’d been expecting Haggard to play when he sat down in the interview room. Not bloody PTSD.


She had reached her building and was fishing her keys out of her bag when she heard a noise behind her. She wedged one of the keys between her fingers, turning it into a short stabbing weapon, bunched her fist and turned, coming face to face with someone she recognised.


DI Malcolm Fox.


He’d been seated in what looked like a brand-new Mercedes. For once he wasn’t in one of his many well-tailored work suits. His hands were deep in the pockets of a dark nylon puffer jacket. Noting the key Clarke was holding, he raised both hands in a show of surrender.


‘Nice to see you too,’ he said.


‘You never call, you never write,’ Clarke replied. ‘It’s almost as if the longer you’re based at the Big House, the easier it is to forget all us little people.’


Fox worked at Gartcosh, Police Scotland’s nerve centre. She wasn’t sure why his career had taken off while hers was stuck in the bus lane, though her one-time colleague John Rebus had taken to calling Fox ‘the Brown-Nose Cowboy’, meaning he was a yes man, a willing and eager toady, and he looked good parked behind a desk in one of those suits.


‘I’m here now, aren’t I?’ Fox gave a fulsome shrug. As well as the jacket, he was wearing blue denims and tan-coloured brogues, none of it quite working. His dark hair was cut close to the scalp, gelled at the front, and his cheeks gleamed as if they saw more of a razor than was strictly necessary.


‘It’s eight o’clock at night, Malcolm.’


‘You weren’t at the office.’


‘I have a phone, though.’


He gave a twitch of his mouth. ‘I wanted to see you in the flesh.’


‘Why?’


He turned his head in the direction of Broughton Street. ‘Grab a drink?’


‘I’ve had a drink.’


‘With Christine Esson – your front desk told me. I did look in at one or two places in the vicinity …’


‘Still got a bit of the detective left in you.’ Fox had worked CID and then Internal Affairs before the big move to Gartcosh’s Specialist Crime Division.


His hands were back in the pockets of his jacket, as if to signal that he was feeling the cold. ‘Maybe a coffee, then?’ His eyes were on the door behind Clarke.


‘I don’t think so. I’m pretty exhausted.’


He nodded his understanding. ‘The Haggard case.’


Clarke couldn’t help her eyebrows going up. ‘You’re well informed.’


‘He’s playing the PTSD card, isn’t he? Or hasn’t he told you that yet?’


Clarke gave him a hard stare. His eyes were almost twinkling. He knew he had her.


‘You’ve got precisely ten minutes,’ she muttered, shoving the key into the lock.


They climbed the stairs in single file, Fox to the rear. ‘Saw you clocking the car,’ he said. ‘I could probably get you the same deal, if you’re in the market.’


‘I’m not.’


‘Well, bear it in mind. Is Rebus still driving that old Saab of his?’


‘How would I know?’


‘You don’t see him these days?’


‘Who I see and don’t see is none of your business.’


‘Just making conversation.’


‘Well don’t.’ They had reached her landing. She opened the door and stalked down the hall. A quick survey of the living room told her she had nothing to worry about. Relatively tidy and evidence-free. She draped her coat over a chair and sat down, facing the doorway, where Fox now stood while he examined his surroundings.


‘Cleaner’s week off?’


‘Says the man whose best friend is a microwave.’


‘I actually know a few recipes these days. I’ll cook for you one night.’


‘Is that a threat?’ Fox just smiled and started unzipping his jacket. ‘Hardly worth your while,’ she added.


‘So no coffee, then?’


‘How the hell do you know about Haggard?’


‘He’s a police officer. It’s my job to know.’


‘In your past life maybe, but you’re not Complaints any longer.’


‘But I was – and my boss says that’s what’s important.’ He gestured towards the sofa and took her stony silence as permission to make himself at least partially comfortable. ‘We’re a bit worried about this case, Siobhan. Worried about possible repercussions.’


‘The bad publicity, you mean?’


‘A rogue cop is never a good look.’


‘Not the first time an officer’s been done for domestic abuse, so I’m guessing it’s not just that, meaning it’s got to be the PTSD angle.’


‘I worked Complaints for a number of years, Siobhan. Tynecastle was seldom off our radar, but we never could get anything to stick.’


‘I’m still not sure how you know he was going to cry PTSD.’


‘He told us.’


‘What?’


‘An email to the chief constable. He says talking about it will require him to detail a lot of incidents involving a culture of corruption within Police Scotland – I’m quoting verbatim.’


‘Does he give examples?’


‘No.’


‘But you don’t think he’s bluffing?’


‘My boss has no way of knowing.’


‘Your boss being the chief constable?’


‘In his wisdom, he passed it down the chain to the assistant chief constable.’


‘Jennifer Lyon, right? And she gave it to you?’ Clarke watched Fox nod. ‘To what end, though?’


‘We need to know more about this defence of his – what he’s going to say, how much of it he can prove. Online news agencies and bloggers are already sniffing. They know Haggard means Tynecastle and Tynecastle is rattling with skeletons.’


‘Well, I’ll be sure to keep you posted.’ Clarke brushed invisible flecks from her trouser legs.


‘Will you, though?’ Fox said into the silence.


‘Let me think.’ She cocked her head. ‘You come skulking around here at night – that smacks to me of wanting things kept low-key.’


‘I did try the station first,’ Fox countered, but Clarke shrugged off the comment.


‘None of this seems to be coming through proper channels. Did the ACC choose you for your background in Complaints or because she knows the two of us have history? Might make me a softer touch, happy to leak anything I hear in the interview room?’ Her face stiffened. ‘Why did Haggard send that email? He wants the case dismissed, doesn’t he? To do that, he’ll threaten whatever it takes, and lo and behold, he’s already got you and your boss doing his work for him.’ Clarke’s voice was rising as she got to her feet. ‘That’s not going to be how it works, Malcolm. I can’t believe you’d even try this on.’


‘I did tell the ACC it was a big ask.’


‘Does she want the case shut down?’


‘She wants what’s best for Police Scotland.’


‘Fewer column inches, you mean.’ Colour was creeping up Clarke’s neck. ‘Tell her I’ll send her the photos of Cheryl Haggard’s injuries. The photos and Cheryl’s statement. I’ll do it first thing.’


‘She knows the details of the case, Siobhan.’


Clarke was signalling for Fox to stand up. She was already at the doorway. ‘You can tell Lyon we spoke. But as long as I’m on this case, it is a case. And it will go to trial, I promise you that.’


‘You’re very confident. I’ve always admired that side of you. Other sides … maybe not so much.’


‘Enjoy your shiny fucking car, Malcolm.’


She led him to the door, slamming it shut after him. Back in her chair, she called Christine Esson, but got no answer. Flicking through her list of contacts, she found a number for Gina Hendry and sent her a text: I’m attached to the Haggard case. Want to speak to Cheryl. You okay to liaise? Would love to catch up anyway. It’s been a while. S


In the kitchen, she put the kettle on. A bottle of Edinburgh Gin, half full, stared at her from the worktop.


‘Not tonight, Satan,’ she cautioned it, reaching instead for the tea bags and a mug.





Day Two
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Rebus was up before it got light, the usual full bladder to blame. Brillo looked keen, so they headed out to the Meadows. Rebus took a small hard rubber ball for the mutt to chase, though he’d drawn the line at those fling-and-fetch things most dog-walkers used. Instead, he scuffed the ball along the ground with the toe of his shoe, meaning Brillo never had to go very far to retrieve it.


After breakfast, he stayed at the table, looking over his notes from the previous night’s internet search. He hadn’t uncovered much. Jack Oram’s disappearance had been flagged up in a few editions of Edinburgh’s evening paper. His family had put together a Missing poster, which had found its way into one of the stories. Rebus had printed it off, along with a smaller picture of Oram on his wedding day. His wife’s name was Ishbel. Rebus had a stack of old telephone directories in the cupboard and consulted one of them. According to the newspaper, the family home had been in Craigmillar, and this was confirmed by the directory. Would the phone number still be the same? He tried it but got the constant tone telling him no such number existed. Stood to reason – he’d almost ditched his own landline when he’d moved flats a couple of years back. If Siobhan Clarke had had her way, he’d have ditched the phone directories too.


So he had an old address for the Oram family, a couple of grainy photographs, and the fact that the Potter’s Bar had morphed from pool hall to a pub called the Moorfoot. Not much to show for an evening, in other words. But then there was the lettings agency on Lasswade Road – if Oram needed a flat, did that imply that he was steering clear of his family? Did they have any inkling he was alive and kicking? And suppose Rebus did manage to track him down, was Cafferty really about to offer an olive branch to the guy, or was it not far more likely he’d be tying a noose to that branch instead?


Rebus reached across the table and lifted the envelope he’d taken from Cafferty’s flat. It was fat with twenties and fifties. He didn’t know what he was going to do with it, but he wasn’t going to keep it.


And he definitely wasn’t handing it back.


He knew that Eric Linn, the man he’d told about Albert Cousins’ poker losses, had died of lung cancer a couple of years back; he had heard as much from someone who’d attended the funeral. Cousins himself, one of Rebus’s more reliable snitches in CID days, had gambled everything away, lost his wife and his home, and topped himself. There hadn’t been more than a dozen people at the crema­torium. When Rebus had chatted to Linn in the pub that night, had he known that Linn knew Cafferty? He didn’t think so. Had he known that Cafferty was a silent partner in the Potter’s Bar? Yes. But how the hell could he have known the poker nights were happening without Cafferty’s knowledge? He looked again at the photos of Jack and Ishbel Oram. At the time, he hadn’t given the story much thought. The past was littered with people like Oram who’d got on the wrong side of Cafferty and suddenly not been around any longer. There was no way he could have connected it to a few words spoken during yet another drinking session. It really wasn’t his fault.


Brillo was lying curled in his basket. He gave his owner an imploring but resigned look as Rebus slipped a jacket on.


‘A couple of hours max,’ Rebus explained, thinking that it might even be true.


His Saab was waiting outside. It was a wrench to leave the prime parking spot by his front door. More usually he had to trawl the area for a reasonable-sized gap. When he’d first moved to Marchmont, more than half a lifetime ago, there had been fewer students and fewer cars. Now, the students owned cars and thought nothing of paying for a parking permit. Rebus himself qualified for a disabled badge, but he’d baulked at the idea. He was conscious that his Saab – which started at the third time of asking – was the oldest car on his street and was edging towards ‘vintage’ territory. The council had plans to stop petrol and diesel cars using the city centre, but vintage cars would probably be exempt. ‘Just another year or two,’ he told the Saab. Always supposing the specialist garage in Wardie Bay could keep performing their regular miracles.


The drive to Lasswade Road didn’t take long. This time of day, traffic was mostly piling into town rather than out. Two-storey houses and single-storey bungalows lined the street, alongside a smattering of shops and businesses. Behind, only a short distance away, lay badlands not unknown to Rebus in his CID days. He parked outside a vet’s practice, through the window of which he could see anxious owners seated with pet carriers on their laps.


The windows of the lettings agency – one either side of its door – were covered by vertical slatted blinds and details of a few dozen properties, giving Rebus little inkling of what might be happening inside. The door itself was part wood and part frosted glass, with a metal gate (unlocked during working hours) providing added security. He took a step back and looked at the signage above the façade: QC Lettings Agency. So he already had one question in mind as he pushed open the door. It gave a little tinkle, courtesy of an old-fashioned bell attached by a spring on the inside.


‘Cute,’ Rebus said as he approached the receptionist. The room wasn’t large but there was a desk angled into one corner, a large plastic screen protecting the receptionist from visitors. ‘Sorry, I forgot.’ He dug in his pocket for the lanyard, which he slipped around his neck. A laminated card was clipped to it, giving notification that he was exempt from wearing a mask. ‘My lungs,’ he explained as he took in the rest of the room.


There was a two-seater sofa, a small occasional table, and a water cooler, plus an entire wall dedicated to more properties available to rent. The receptionist was a no-nonsense woman in her early fifties, hair tied back and glasses perched on her nose.


‘What does the QC stand for?’ Rebus asked.


‘Quality Counts, I’ve been told.’


‘Like the sherry?’


‘Like the sherry.’


‘Why do I get the feeling I’m not the first to have made the connection?’


She gifted him a cool smile and asked if he was looking to rent.


‘Not today,’ he apologised, bringing out the photo of Jack Oram. ‘But I think this man was. I’m not sure exactly how long back. A few weeks, I think. He’s called Jack Oram, though he might be using a different name.’


He was holding the photo for her to take, but she seemed reluctant.


‘What’s this in connection with?’


‘He was reported as missing four years back, but he’s been spotted coming out of this office.’


‘It’s not a very good photo, is it? When was it taken?’


‘I’m not sure,’ Rebus admitted.


‘I’ve not seen him,’ the receptionist concluded.


‘Could anyone else have dealt with him?’


‘There’s just me.’


‘I’m assuming you get a lunch break, though?’


‘Twelve thirty on the dot, but I just nip over the road to the baker’s.’


‘Maybe you could check all the same, just to put my mind at rest?’


She gave him a stare and a sniff, then got busy on her keyboard. ‘The name Oram isn’t coming up.’


‘Like I said, he might be using an alias.’


‘Why would he do that? And what’s it got to do with you anyway?’


‘His family haven’t given up hope. They asked me to do some digging. You can imagine how desperate they are.’


‘I suppose I can,’ she eventually admitted, half turning her head towards a closed door at the back of the room. ‘If I do need to step out for any reason – say a dental appointment – I either lock up or Mr Mackenzie keeps an eye on things.’


‘He’s the manager?’


‘He owns the firm, yes. Well, it’s a family business – something QC prides itself on.’


‘Do you think you could ask him?’


‘He’s in a meeting right this second. I’m not sure how long it’ll last. If you leave me a contact number …’


She was interrupted by the closed door suddenly opening. It stayed open as a woman strode out. She was a decade younger than the receptionist, her high heels clacking on the parquet floor. Knee-length red leather skirt and a waist-length jacket of the same vibrant hue. Rebus was enveloped in perfume as she passed. Their eyes met for the briefest of moments. Hers were a striking blue. Plenty of make-up and all topped by thick black hair. He was reminded of Elizabeth Taylor in what he would have called her prime. The bell attached to the door quivered as she made her exit. Without waiting to be asked, Rebus entered the office, cutting off the receptionist’s objection by closing the door once he was inside.


This inner office was half the size of the outer one. Just a single desk, bare apart from a small notebook computer folded shut and unplugged. Behind it the narrow window had bars on the outside and offered a view of a patio enclosed by a high wooden fence. A drinks cabinet against the wall told Rebus that successful clients might be offered a glass to celebrate. The man sitting across the desk took a moment to realise a stranger was standing in front of him.


‘Who are you?’ he asked, not without reason.


‘My name’s Rebus. I’m here on behalf of Jack Oram’s family.’


‘Is that supposed to mean something to me?’


Rather than provide an immediate answer, Rebus sat on one of the two available chairs. The woman’s perfume was even stronger in this enclosed space. Mackenzie was probably much the same age as her. He wore a white shirt and blue silk tie. Gold cufflinks at his wrists and a heavy-looking gold watch. His blue pinstripe jacket had been draped over the back of his chair. His hair was tousled and silvered and probably hadn’t been restyled since he was a young man. It gave him a slightly unruly look, while taking years off him.


‘Who was it that just left?’ Rebus asked.


‘Why do you want to know?’


‘Thought I recognised her.’


Mackenzie glared at him. ‘My wife,’ he stated. ‘Elizabeth. Where do you know her from?’


‘It’ll come back to me,’ was all Rebus said. ‘Meantime, maybe you could look at this photo.’


Mackenzie took the photo from him and studied it.


‘He’s called Jack Oram,’ Rebus said. ‘Though he may be using another name. Went AWOL four years ago. His family think he’s reappeared, and he was seen leaving these premises.’


‘I don’t know the name and I don’t know the face. Besides, Marion deals with the majority of the clients.’ He gestured towards the front office. ‘And an assumed name wouldn’t get him very far – we require photo ID and bank statements.’


‘As is right and proper.’ Rebus took the sheet of paper back. ‘Do you mind me asking your first name, Mr Mackenzie?’


‘It’s Fraser. And yours?’


‘John.’


‘And you’re some sort of investigator? Paid a finder’s fee by the family, that sort of thing?’ Mackenzie’s accent, which had started out as refined Edinburgh, was coarsening slightly, as if it had decided that Rebus didn’t merit one of its performances. Rebus held up the photograph again.


‘It could be mistaken identity, I suppose. Someone in here recently who looks like him …’


‘Your guess is as good as mine.’ Mackenzie made a show of opening his computer, as if readying to do some proper work. Then the phone in his pocket vibrated and he took it out, holding it away from him as he tried reading whatever was on the screen.


‘It’s vanity, you know,’ Rebus said, getting up from his chair.


‘What is?’


‘When you need glasses but refuse to wear them. I’m just guessing it’s down to vanity.’


‘Not the worst sin, is it, Mr Rebus?’ Mackenzie said with a smile.


‘Not by a long shot,’ Rebus was forced to agree.


He reckoned Brillo would be fine for another hour so drove from Lasswade Road to Craigmillar. He’d worked CID there for a spell, but the old police station on the main road had turned into some kind of Pentecostal church, albeit with metal shutters firmly closed. Its replacement was a short sprint away, a new-build reflecting changes in the area. Craigmillar and next-door Niddrie had kept the police busy in Rebus’s day, crumbling housing and endemic poverty proving fertile soil for crime and criminals. Much of that had now gone. The up-to-date low-rise blocks and buffed-up facilities had altered the face of Craigmillar utterly. Rebus passed a shiny library and a busy-looking Tesco Express. He turned off the main road into the estate where Jack Oram had lived, pulled to a stop kerbside and felt able to lock his car without fearing it would be vandalised in his absence.


‘Changed days,’ he said to himself.


Hoardings advertised new developments further into the estate. The houses here were of a vintage, but roofs had been replaced and the double-glazed windows looked new. Gardens were tidier than would have been the case at one time. Oram had run a successful little business and could have afforded to live elsewhere in the city, but Rebus knew that a sense of community and belonging were sometimes more important. He’d known gangsters – in many ways Cafferty was an anomaly – who stayed in the same council houses they’d grown up in long after they’d amassed their fortunes. There was safety, too, in surrounding yourself with people who would look out for you. They felt you were one of them, long after this had ceased to be the case, and a few quid handed round could always oil the machine of neighbourliness.


Rebus had the address from the phone book. It was at the end of a terrace, pebble-dashed like the others in the street. The front garden had been replaced by a driveway, though no car sat there at present. There was a garage at the side and hanging baskets, currently devoid of life, flanking the front door. The door itself looked new, dark varnished wood with a tall rectangle of stained glass above the letter box. The bell had a camera attached. Rebus pressed it and waited.


The woman who opened up rolled her eyes when she saw him. ‘What’s he done this time? I hardly ever see him, you know.’


‘You think I’m the police?’


‘You mean you’re not?’


She was in her forties, dyed orange hair falling to her shoulders, and dressed for a gym she almost certainly never visited.


‘Just to be clear, who are we talking about?’


‘Maybe start with who you are and what you’re doing here.’ She folded her arms and tipped her head slightly to one side.


‘You’re Ishbel Oram, I recognise you from the photo.’


She narrowed her eyes. ‘What photo?’


‘Your wedding. You’ve hardly changed,’ Rebus lied. ‘And the reason I’m here is your husband, Jack. I’ve heard he’s back in town and I’d like a word.’


‘Back in town?’ Her eyebrows rose. ‘Who’s saying that?’


‘So you’ve not seen him?’


‘I don’t go to seances.’


‘You reckon he’s no longer with us?’


She stepped down from the doorway so she was level with Rebus. ‘A man called Cafferty had him done away with,’ she stated. ‘I didn’t used to think that, but I do now, though we have to wait three more years to make it official.’


‘Presumption of death, you mean?’ Rebus watched her nod. ‘What makes you so sure Cafferty’s to blame?’


‘Jack got on the wrong side of him – that’s something you don’t want to happen. Then there’s the envelope. Stuck through the letter box a few weeks past. No note, just five hundred quid. That’s got to be him, hasn’t it?’


Rebus thought of his own envelope, the sum probably identical. ‘Cafferty, you mean? Why not Jack himself?’


‘Dead men tend not to be earners.’


‘Why wait four years to send it?’


She considered this. ‘A guilty conscience sometimes takes a while.’ She peered at him. ‘What is it you wanted with Jack anyway?’


‘Your first instinct wasn’t far off – I used to be CID. There’s a bit of unfinished business from back in the day, and I thought Jack could help, so when I heard he’d been seen …’


‘Seen where?’


‘A lettings office on Lasswade Road.’


Her face grew quizzical. ‘Why would he be there?’ Rebus didn’t like to say: a fresh start, new identity, no family. ‘Anyway,’ she went on, ‘I’m sorry to disappoint you.’


‘So the person you thought I was here about …’


‘Is sweet FA to do with you, mister whoever you are.’ She began to retreat inside the house.


‘Thanks for the chat,’ Rebus said to the door as it closed. He walked to his car, thinking about the newspaper coverage of Jack Oram’s disappearance. Yes, a son had been mentioned, described as a school-leaver, making him sixteen or seventeen then, early twenties now.


What’s he done this time?


Well, yes, that was a good question.


He got as far as the main road, but when a parking bay presented itself, he pulled over. Among all the rejuvenation of Craigmillar, one row of unkempt shops remained. A newsagent/post office, bookmaker, laundrette, barber and nail salon. Plus, at one end, a bar with grilles over both windows and a sign that identified it as the Moorfoot. Aka Jack Oram’s old place, the Potter’s Bar.


‘You used to do this all the time,’ Rebus told himself under his breath. ‘How hard can it be?’


Officers working on an inquiry used to joke that they kept shoemakers in business. You could wear out a decent pair while doorstepping a neighbourhood, asking the same questions at every door, facing the same sights and smells. Faces sullen or antagonistic; wafts of whatever was being fried in the kitchen; almost always a blaring television or growling mongrel. So Rebus wasn’t exactly surprised when, pushing open the door to the newsagent’s, a dog started alerting everyone to his arrival. It was the owner’s German shepherd by the look of things, and its message to Rebus was: don’t mess with my human.


The post office section of the shop was a fortress of security screens and reinforced door. But there was also a counter nearer the front where groceries and cigarettes could be bought. The racks dedicated to newspapers and magazines were almost non-existent, reminding Rebus of the way tastes had shifted in a few short years. He grabbed an Evening News – the thing seemed to be on sale from dawn these days – and showed Oram’s photograph to the woman at the till, who just shrugged and shook her head. He then queued behind a woman who seemed to be sending the contents of an Amazon distribution centre back to base, one box at a time. While he waited, he skimmed the pages of the newspaper. There was a follow-up story on the acid and fire-raising attacks in West Lothian, police apparently investigating a possible connection between the two.

OEBPS/images/cover.jpg
THE ICONIC NUMBER ONE BESTSELLER

‘A genius’ ‘A master’

Lee Child

AND IT WILL BURY JOHN REBUS.






OEBPS/images/title.jpg
JAN
RANKIN

AHEART
FULL

OF
HEADSTONES

ORION





OEBPS/xhtml/nav.xhtml




Contents





		Cover



		Dedication



		Title Page



		Contents





		Now



		Then



		Day One

		1



		2









		Day Two

		3



		4



		5



		6









		Day Three

		7



		8



		9



		10



		11



		12









		Day Four

		13



		14



		15









		Day Five

		16



		17



		18



		19









		Day Six

		20



		21



		22



		23



		24









		Day Seven

		25



		26



		27



		28









		Day Eight

		29



		30



		31







		Now



		About the Author



		Ian Rankin The Iconic Number One Bestseller



		Also by Ian Rankin



		Copyright











Page List





		1



		2



		3



		4



		5



		6



		7



		8



		9



		10



		11



		12



		13



		14



		15



		16



		17



		18



		19



		20



		21



		22



		23



		24



		25



		26



		27



		28



		29



		30



		31



		32



		33



		34



		35



		36



		37



		38



		39



		40



		41



		42



		43



		44



		45



		46



		47



		48



		49



		50



		51



		52



		53



		54



		55



		56



		57



		58



		59



		60



		61



		62



		63



		64



		65



		66



		67



		68



		69



		70



		71



		72



		73



		74



		75



		76



		77



		78



		79



		80



		81



		82



		83



		84



		85



		86



		87



		88



		89



		90



		91



		92



		93



		94



		95



		96



		97



		98



		99



		100



		101



		102



		103



		104



		105



		106



		107



		108



		109



		110



		111



		112



		113



		114



		115



		116



		117



		118



		119



		120



		121



		122



		123



		124



		125



		126



		127



		128



		129



		130



		131



		132



		133



		134



		135



		136



		137



		138



		139



		140



		141



		142



		143



		144



		145



		146



		147



		148



		149



		150



		151



		152



		153



		154



		155



		156



		157



		158



		159



		160



		161



		162



		163



		164



		165



		166



		167



		168



		169



		170



		171



		172



		173



		174



		175



		176



		177



		178



		179



		180



		181



		182



		183



		184



		185



		186



		187



		188



		189



		190



		191



		192



		193



		194



		195



		196



		197



		198



		199



		200



		201



		202



		203



		204



		205



		206



		207



		208



		209



		210



		211



		212



		213



		214



		215



		216



		217



		218



		219



		220



		221



		222



		223



		224



		225



		226



		227



		228



		229



		230



		231



		232



		233



		234



		235



		236



		237



		238



		239



		240



		241



		242



		243



		244



		245



		246



		247



		248



		249



		250



		251



		252



		253



		254



		255



		256



		257



		258



		259



		260



		261



		262



		263



		264



		265



		266



		267



		268



		269



		270



		271



		272



		273



		274



		275



		276



		277



		278



		279



		280



		281



		282



		283



		284



		285



		286



		287



		288



		289



		290



		291



		292



		293



		294



		295



		296



		297



		298



		299



		300



		301



		302



		303



		304



		305



		306



		307



		308



		309



		310



		311



		312



		313



		314



		315



		316



		317



		318



		319



		320



		321



		322



		323



		324



		325



		326



		327



		328



		329



		330



		331











Guide





		Cover



		Table of Contents



		Start Reading









